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P R O C E E D I N G S

WELCOME


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  Okay.  If we could have everybody take their seats, please.  All right.  I'd like to welcome everybody.  I want to make sure that we have time for all the agenda that's outlined, and so with that I'd like to indicate that what we're going to do, is we have the pleasure of our Acting Secretary, Dr. Rebecca Blank.  She will give us a few remarks.  Then from there, we'll have our new Chief Manufacturing Officer from NIST also.  Then finally along that line then we'll begin to get into some of our regulars, like Francisco Sanchez and his overview, and then Nicole will take us through all our guests for the day.


Then when we talk about next steps, as the members of the Council know, we have outlined committee meetings for afterwards.  I think I'd like to have a committee of the whole meeting initially to talk about, okay, where do we go from here?  We've been together a while and we'd like to talk about, you know, next steps for the rest of this year and the following year as we proceed.  Then we'll have it wrapped up by Peter Perez, and then we'll adjourn to the committee meetings.  So with that, let's have everybody go around the room and introduce themselves so that Dr. Blank can put names and faces together.


Chandra, why don't you start us off?


MS. BROWN:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Chandra Brown.  I am the Vice Chair of the U.S. Manufacturing Council and I work at Oregon Ironworks and United Streetcar, from Portland, Oregon.


MR. LASZKIEWICZ:  Hello, Doctor.  I'm Mike Laszkiewicz.  I'm from Milwaukee, Wisconsin.  I work for Rockwell Automation.


MS. ZOBEL:  Good morning, Dr. Blank.  My name is Donna Zobel.  I'm from Sterling Heights, Michigan and I come from a small --


MR. MacMILLAN:  Staying with Michigan, Stephen MacMillan with Stryker, a medical device company headquartered in Kalamazoo.


DR. BLANK:  I know both of these towns well.  


SECRETARY LAMB-HALE:  Yeah.  We have a bit of a Michigan mafia here.


(Laughter)


MR. ARGUELLO:  Luis Arguello, a medical device manufacturer out of Miami-Dade.


MR. HASTINGS:  David Hastings, president and CEO of Mt. Vernon Mills.  We're a textile manufacturer involved in South Carolina.


MR. MOLNAR:  I'm Mike Molnar.  I'm with Commerce NIST.


MR. BARAB:  Jordan Barab.  I'm Deputy Assistant Secretary of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration.


DR. BLANK:  Rebecca Blank, and today I'm the Acting Secretary of the Department of Commerce.


(Laughter)


DR. BLANK:  I have other titles --


(Laughter)


SECRETARY LAMB-HALE:  Nicole Lamb-Hale, Assistant Secretary for Manufacturing and Services, hailing from Michigan.


MR. PEREZ:  Peter Perez, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Manufacturing, hailing from Grand Rapids, Michigan, and also having joined Dr. Blank on a slide down the chute on the 757 at Dulles Airport.


(Laughter)


DR. BLANK:  They evacuated the slide.  There were a number of people from Commerce on that plane.


MR. PEREZ:  We can check that box off on the life experience list.


(Laughter)


MR. McGUIRE:  Matthew McGuire.  I'm Director of the Office of Business Liaison, and I'm very tempted to split this up by asking who's a Spartan's fan and who's a Wolverine's fan, but I'm going to let that one go.


(Laughter)


MR. MASSERMAN:  Mike Masserman, Director of the Office of Advisory Committees here at Commerce, and I went to Michigan.


MS. PILAT:  Jenna Pilat, Deputy Director for the Office of Advisory Committees.


MS. BUCKLEY:  Patricia Buckley, Senior Policy Advisor to the Secretary.


MR. FULLER:  Al Fuller, CEO of Integrated Packaging, and we have a plant in Michigan.


(Laughter)


MR. MELTON:  Dave Melton, Sacred Power Corporation -- energy -- pueblo --


MR. BEYER:  Rich Beyer, the CEO of Freescale Semiconductor in Austin, Texas, and I went to Georgetown.  I didn't go to Michigan.


(Laughter)


MR. LANDOL:  Sam Landol, COO of Sealaska Corporation for Southeast Alaska and Native Alaska Corporation.


MR. SPEER:  Jason Speer, vice president of Quality Float Works, a manufacturer of liquid level devices in Chambray, Illinois.


MR. GAMBRELL:  Mike Gambrell with Dow Chemical.  And I'll finish out: Middleland, Michigan.


(Laughter)


MR. GAMBRELL:  And I fly a split flag.  I've got a U of A and a Michigan State --


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  Well, to dot the last I and cross the last T, I'm Joe Anderson, TAG Holdings in Michigan, and your chair of the Council.  We're very excited about our meeting today.


So with that, Dr. Blank, let us turn it over to you.


ECONOMIC UPDATE & AMERICAN JOBS ACT BRIEFING

Dr. Rebecca Blank, Acting Secretary of Commerce


DR. BLANK:  Thank you very much, Joe.  I want to thank both Joe and Chandra for their leadership of this group, and I want to thank all of you for your very active involvement.  I had the pleasure in the last couple of days to read through the sequence of letters that you have written with recommendations.  I had heard about the recommendations, I hadn't actually read the letters.


They're incredibly thoughtful and it's clear you've put a lot of time and energy into your work on this committee.  I know you don't do it for compensation and I'm pretty sure you don't do it for the cafeteria breakfast that you get, so thank you all for coming and just being so engaged in this set of issues.


I want to talk a little bit about where we are and where we're going in terms of policy and the administration.  As you all know, a robust and grueling manufacturing sector is a very high priority for this administration for at least three reasons: 


1)  U.S. manufacturing is the innovation engine for the Nation.  Manufacturers perform about two-thirds of all private sector R&D, investing in and producing technological advances that have helped drive three-quarters of the Nation's economic growth since World War II. 


2)  Very important for the Department of Commerce, manufacturing firms lead the Nation in exports.  The $1.1 trillion of manufactured goods that are shipped abroad constitute about 86 percent of all U.S. goods exported in 2010, moving us towards meeting President Obama's national export initiative goal of doubling exports by 2015.  We watch those export numbers closely every month when they come in and we're ahead of the goal at this point, so thank you for all the work that you do to help us make that happen.


3)  In 2010, manufacturing directly supported nearly 12 million jobs, 9 percent of total employment, plus, of course, all the non-manufacturing jobs that are a result of manufacturing's operations up and down the supply chain.  Jobs at are at the center of an enormous number of concerns right now, and rightfully so.


Furthermore, I should note these are good jobs, with manufacturing employees making, on average, 27 percent more than other workers which, you know, is also a reason to want to expand and work with manufacturing.


Jobs are the number-one priority of this administration.  Let me talk a little bit about the American Jobs Act, which the President announced this past month and which all of us in leadership positions have been out talking about almost non-stop.  I'm an economist, as I was telling someone. 


I follow the economic data and what's happening in the economy very, very closely and I firmly believe that this plan is deeply important for the economic health of our country in the next several months and needs to be passed in the next several months for us to move forward. 


Among the things that are in this proposal, there are sort of four main components to the American Jobs plan.  The first, are tax cuts aimed at businesses, and particularly aimed at small businesses. So this includes cutting the payroll tax in half on the first $5 million of wages that are paid by a company.  It provides 100 percent payroll tax on any new hires, increases in hours, or increases in wages that you give to employees over the 2011 base, so it's a big incentive to do new hiring or to expand hours among your existing workers because that's payroll tax free next year.


I know this is an important one for you guys: it extends the 100 percent expensing for capital expenditures into 2010, something that you have written us about.  In addition to that, does a number of things to try to work on the edges at least of some of the credit issues that are really serious issues, particularly for smaller businesses.


In addition to its assistance to businesses, it also puts more money in the pockets of American workers and their families.  There's a payroll tax cut proposed on the payroll taxes that workers pay which is larger than the cut that was received in 2011, so that the net effect of this would be that the average family would have about $1,500 more in their pocket to spend than they would have in the absence of this payroll tax cut, and that's real money.  I think we're at a point economically where a very high share of that is likely to be spent, and of course that will help spur consumer spending and give businesses more certainty about demand.


The third piece.  You've got business tax cuts, consumer tax cuts.  The third piece is focused on the long-term unemployed, of which there are far too many in this country, and working on trying to get them back at work faster.  On the one hand, it extends employment benefits to the long-term unemployed which, given where we are in the economy, I think we absolutely have to do.  


But it's very creative in giving States a lot of freedom and encouragements to run some new programs for the unemployed.  Unemployment insurance is largely a State-run function, so this is more letting States do this without any Federal constraints as opposed to saying States must do it.


We don't have quite the authority to do that, but it really encourages States to allow long-term unemployed to take jobs that are training or internships or do things that move into part-time work and not lose all of their unemployment benefits.  


So basically employers can provide training, people can take a flyer on doing some sort of an internship program and they don't completely lose unemployment benefits, even though they may not be getting paid a very extensive wage for this.  So it's a real effort to move people further.  It also gives a $4,000 tax break to any company that hires someone who's been unemployed for six months or longer, so it really wants to push hiring for long-term unemployed.  That's the third piece.


The last piece of this is sort of building America's workforce by both increasing our infrastructure, working on the infrastructure issues, as well as supporting jobs.  So this is the piece that supports the National Infrastructure Bank, which is aimed at roads, airports, railways, regular ports, a large range of issues.  It's also a piece that proposes money to States that has to be spent to retain teachers, firefighters, and cops on the job, some very, very key areas that are being threatened by local cuts.


So those four areas--support for business, support for workers, support for the long-term unemployed, and a focus on jobs and infrastructure--are the four pieces of this act.  


The other things that I should say about it is that one of the ways in which this was put together, and I know this hadn't been part of some of the conversations, was explicitly to put things in this legislation that have had bipartisan support by both Republicans and Democrats.  So the proposal for the National Infrastructure Bank, there are a number of ways to put more money into infrastructure in this country.  


The reason this was chosen was we chose to endorse the proposal for a National Infrastructure Bank that is already on the Hill and jointly supported by Kay Bailey Hutchison and John Kerry, which is bipartisan support, because we think that has a much greater likelihood of receiving larger bipartisan support inside Congress.  So these things are all areas where we have bipartisan support.


President Obama has since released in this plan, also released, an extensive deficit reduction plan.  So the idea is, you have to do some amount of assistance to the economy in the next year, but over the next 10 years we all agree the deficit has to come down.  So he's proposed a $4 trillion deficit reduction plan over the next years that more than quite a bit pays for the $427 billion American Jobs Act and pulls down the deficit very substantially.  That's going to be much debated, but he's put a set of proposals on the table that clearly are a starting point.


And the third thing to say is the plan is really designed to get money into the economy immediately.  Two-thirds of the cost are the payroll tax cuts, and those of you who know the payroll tax -- means that money is in business and workers' hands next month after this gets enacted.  There's no issues about, how long is it going to take to start the project and get people employed?  The money is out there immediately.


So given where we are in the economy, given the need to create jobs and to do all these things, putting some wind under the sails of families in terms of consumer demand and businesses in terms of stability and hiring, you must start the virtuous cycle here that leads to higher economic growth.  So you get a little bit more money to businesses, a little bit more money to workers.  You know, you get more hiring that occurs. That creates more income, that creates more consumer demand, that leads to more hiring.


This is exactly the economic cycle which then leads to a higher degree of economic growth, and it's only in a higher growth economy that we are going to bring down unemployment in the way that we want and that we are going to be successful at long-term deficit reduction.  You know, it's going to be very, very hard to do deficit reduction in a slow-growth economy.  So, you know, enacting this plan soon I just find terribly important.


So that's what I've been working on a lot and talking about. I know someone asked me, what is it that we can most do to help?  I know a number of you have already done this, but in the very immediate run, to the extent that you are willing to support aspects of this plan publicly, you know, that's just incredibly important to us because we need people out there saying this is something that's going to help our business, it is something that's going to help the families in our community.  So I might just sort of put that on the table.


Let me just finish by talking a little bit about other things that are happening around the administration, and particularly in the Department of Commerce, that are of interest to The Manufacturing Council.  We are focused on getting more Americans back on the job in the near term, but we're also looking to rebuild the foundations for economic growth in the long term. 


One part of that effort, is President Obama has launched the Advanced Manufacturing Partnership this past June.  I suspect you've gotten paper on that from various people around here.  It's an effort that partners with our top engineering schools, our most innovative manufacturers, and the Federal Government in an alliance to get American products from the drawing board to the factory floor, to the marketplace as quickly as possible.


Then let me mention some of the things that we're doing here inside the Department of Commerce this morning.  Later on you're going to hear from a variety of other agencies that are working on a number of the recommendations you have made, but let me talk about what's happening here in Commerce. 


The International Trade Administration continues to sharpen its focus to concentrate on manufacturing sectors with high export potential as part of the President's National Export Initiative.  I suspect you've gotten briefings on some of the things we're doing there.  I'm very excited about some of the public/private partnership programs that we have going to help promote exports.


Secondly, the National Institute for Standards and Technology, NIST, is playing a very important role in the Advanced Manufacturing Partnership, and this is being led now by Mike Molnar, who started work--oh, you changed chairs--at the very end of August and is our new Chief Manufacturing Officer at NIST, and will be working not only at NIST but throughout the Department of Commerce and in conjunction with the White House efforts.


The U.S. Patent & Trademark Office has finished celebrating the passage of the American Advance Act, which Dave Kappos, the head of that office, the Director of the Patent Office, has described as "the most important changes in the way America does patents since the Reform Act of 1835".  I don't know enough about patent history to know if that's right or not, but I'm willing to believe Dave; he knows his stuff.


Their primary goal next year is going to be implementing this act, which has a number of very aggressive time tables and goals in it designed to modernize the patent system and to speed up the process from application to approval.  Again, this is one of the real success stories and was a major bipartisan win on the Hill, with a final vote in the Senate of 89:9.  So, this is one that we need to deliver on and deliver well.


The Economic Development Administration is providing a variety of different funds to regional innovation clusters which are going to be key to regions that want to retain and attract 21st century manufacturers.  Building on your recommendations, as I understand it, EDA is developing a cluster map of where industries are located to help communities and industries work together and understand sort of, what are your resources that you have to work with.  There are many other activities, our manufacturing extension partnership, Select USA, which is designed to retain and bring foreign direct investment here into the United States. 


But I've gone on long enough and we can come back and talk about any of this.  I want to stop so we have time for a few questions.  I just really do want to thank you for all of the work that you're doing here.  I'm going to stay through at least the morning and Francisco's conversation.  I won't be able to stay for the whole conversation, but do be in touch with me if there are things that I need to hear, or questions or issues that you want to talk about after today.


So let me open up for -- I think we've got time for at least a couple of questions.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  Well, thank you very much.


Let me ask a quick one that's on all of our mind, and no reflection on you.


DR. BLANK:  Yes.  Yes.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  Any word on the Secretary being confirmed?


DR. BLANK:  I hope.  Yes.  The Department of Commerce needs permanent -- as much as I'm enjoying this job, it needs permanent leadership, right?  Mr. Bryson has been on the Hill.  He's had lots of conversations.  As I suspect you all know, the Republicans have said they will note vote on him until after the free trade agreement issues are settled.  Exactly what that means -- you know, is that as soon as there's some agreement?  Is it actually after the vote? That's all still in the process of negotiation.  


But I was talking to the White House Chief Legislative person yesterday and he was saying that he was hoping that there was going to be movement on this starting next week.  So, you know, I am hopeful that sometime in October Mr. Bryson will come in as the new Secretary and I can go back to my day job.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  That's what we were looking for.  Thank you.


DR. BLANK:  Yes.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  Did I see a hand down here?  Yes.


MR. BEYER:  I just wanted to thank the Commerce Department on this Patent Act.  Freescale had five troll lawsuits in the four weeks leading up to the President signing, and we've had none since.


DR. BLANK:  That's great.


MR. BEYER:  Actually, this is a scourge on business and we believe the changes in the new Patent Act will dramatically help businesses and take that cost away and we can spend it on R&D in manufacturing. So, thank you.


DR. BLANK:  Yes.  Well, a lot of people worked very hard to make this happen.  With legislation like this, it passes at the sort of bipartisan level and doesn't just fall out of the sky.  It was really good to see this come to fruition.


MR. BEYER:  Thank you.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  You have a question here?


MR. GAMBRELL:  Yes.  Thank you, Dr. Blank, for your comments.


DR. BLANK:  Yes.


MR. GAMBRELL:  I'd like to get your insights a little bit how you feel the American Job Act is going to intersect with the Committee of 12.  You've got an independent agency kind of working over here, if you will.  What kind of sense do you have of the plans coming together?


DR. BLANK:  The Committee of 12 being the Super Committee, the Deficit Reduction Committee?


MR. GAMBRELL:  Yes.


DR. BLANK:  Yes.  So there's two issues going on here.  I mean, one is long-term deficit reduction, right?  And I don't think -- there's almost no one who doesn't think that the U.S. is skirting with danger at its current levels of deficits.  We need to bring deficits down.  You don't bring deficits down in one or two years.  You need to do what we did in the '90s, to be honest, which is you go through multiple years of holding to discipline in terms of spending and revenue decisions, right?  And what I think the Committee of 12, the Super Committee, is going to do if it does a good job is to lay out a path for an 8- to 10-year process.  That is what President Obama's plan for deficit reduction does. 


I hope that that gets a clear hearing, but I think we're all well aware that this is going to be an issue that gets -- you know, a lot of compromises are going to get made on both sides.  The one thing the administration has said very, very strongly, and I think is the right thing to say, is that for long-term deficit reduction to work it has to be a balanced approach.  


There are -- you know, we are going to feel the effects of deficit reduction.  We, in a broad sense--businesses, consumers, people inside government, people outside government in terms of what this means. And the only way you do this is to sacrifice, and that means spreading the sacrifice on the revenue side--hey, Francisco--as well as spreading the sacrifice on the spending side.  You know, you can't load it all on one sector of the economy or on the revenue side.  So that's the long-term plan.


The American Jobs Act is really about the short term.  As I say, I mean, I firmly believe that if we don't have higher rates of economic growth, the long-term deficit reduction is just going to be almost impossible to pull off.  So this is, as I say, putting a little bit more money trying to start higher degrees of economic growth by getting us up with this current very slow growth environment that we're in. 


You know, we've had a number of headwinds coming at us between the complete upsets in Europe, which have really roiled markets and created enormous caution.  The tsunami affected a number of industries in the United States in ways that I think we didn't quite expect.  The higher gas prices were one of the fall-outs of some of the changes in the Middle East, which in some ways are very hopeful but have had some very negative effects on consumer confidence and spending.


And we did some of it to ourselves in terms of headwinds.  That deficit debt ceiling debate tanked consumer confidence more than anything else that's happened in the last 5 to 10 years.  So getting ourselves out of this with a little bit of assistance 

-- I mean, this is exactly when a bit of additional government spending can help.  So, you know, it's the short-term American Jobs Act and the long-term deficit reduction efforts that have to go together.  


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  One last question, please.


MR. MacMILLAN:  On the short-term job creation issue, I'll either make an observation or seek your opinion.


DR. BLANK:  Yes.


MR. MacMILLAN:  But in terms of short-term job creation, so, I represent the medical device industry.


DR. BLANK:  Yes.  Yes.


MR. MacMILLAN:  Luis and I are in that.  We are facing a huge issue right now in terms of job expansion, which is a 2.3 percent medical device excise tax that kicks in January 1, 2013.  It's $2 billion a year is what it will raise.  You've asked for our support of $40 billion of jobs.  That $2 billion means, for me as a company, on January 1, 2013, we'll look at a $150 million tax increase.  We're not asking for tax cuts, we're starting down an enormous tax increase.  I have frozen hiring between now and the start of 2013.  And by the way, we're a company that has added 86 -- we've almost doubled our U.S. employment in the last decade.  We are a net exporter, right?


DR. BLANK:  Yeah.  Yeah.  Yeah.


MR. MacMILLAN:  You want to increase exports.


DR. BLANK:  Yeah.


MR. MacMILLAN:  Our industry is one of the greatest net exporters in this country.  It has been the biggest driver--one of the biggest drivers--of exports.  We're starting at this huge new tax coming on us.  I know it sounds parochial, but literally it's a $2 billion tax that I know sounds like nothing in this city, but it's an enormous impact as we think about the jobs.  And again, we're a company that produces in Kalamazoo, Michigan and sells those products in China. We're doing the opposite.  That excise tax is having an enormous impact on how we think about everything we do here.  So I just -- I want to -- I know at the macro level those things get lost, but they're really real.


DR. BLANK:  Yeah.  Yeah.


MR. MacMILLAN:  I don't know if you have any advice for us, but I can promise you, by the way, if that device excise tax -- which again, we're not asking for a tax cut.  It's the lack of an additional tax being added.  Our industry will create more jobs and do more exports.  We're struggling.  The last two days we've had our -- we're struggling with how to deal with that.  So sorry to sound parochial, but it's --


DR. BLANK:  Yes.  No, I hear very much what you're saying.  I don't have an immediate answer with regard to, you know, that specific tax issue.  I do think that a good number of us, both individually or on the business front, are going to be facing -- you know, if you're looking at long-term deficit reduction, as I say, you've got to work on both the spending and the revenue side.  


The effect of that is, it's almost impossible to do this stuff fairly.  It's just, it's a difficult situation.  I don't have a response at all about the medical device excise tax.  I don't know enough about that to make a coherent comment.  But I certainly hear what you're saying, that there are effects of this.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  But Michael, can you follow up and perhaps send something to us, please?


DR. BLANK:  Yes, we'll do that.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


Would you like to introduce our Chief Manufacturing representative, Dr. Blank?


DR. BLANK:  Mike Molnar, whom I've had the pleasure of getting to know over this last month, comes from Commons Engine, where he's had a long and distinguished career.  He's really just the right person, given his background, which he can say more about as he talks to really help the Department of Commerce spearhead being part of the advanced manufacturing effort that's coming out of the White House and that we really want to be major leaders for.


ADVANCED MANUFACTURING BRIEFING

Michael Molnar, Chief Manufacturing Officer,


U.S. Department of Commerce


MR. MOLNAR:  Terrific.  Thank you so much.  It is a real pleasure for me to be here.  I just met Mike a week, week and a half ago and I said, how can I just sit in the back of the ground?  He said, well, it'll cost you a Starbucks and we'll put you on the agenda.


(Laughter)


MR. MOLNAR:  I, just like Nicole, just had a great experience in the private sector and then did something crazy, which is joined the government to be a public servant.  That's my role.  I was in my 25th year with Commons, about 30 years of manufacturing experience.  Why I did that was they created this new role called Chief Manufacturing Officer for NIST, the National Institute of Standards and Technology, and of course NIST is the best-kept secret, it seems, in the Commerce family.  So, I joined Commerce.  


But part of the role is inward-facing, which is all of you that have large operations, especially those R&D sections, lots of engineers, all those engineers don't like to get out of the lab and such and talk.  That's kind of what we have here.  We have some amazing laboratories and programs that aren't as visible as they could be.  That's especially important because what the President announced is the newest acronym that I'm supposed to be helping with, which is the Public/Private Partnership.  


So part of the reason I think they chose me for the role is I had experience serving in the White House Office of Science and Technology Policy, but my background is advanced manufacturing, working with universities, working with government agencies, but especially focused on sustainable growth.


So what Mike said is, can you tell us some things -- and I first need to apologize because I don't know what you know, so I put too many slides in and I'm going to flash quickly.  So stop me.  All the slides will be available to you.  I do understand that you've had a briefing on AMP, so I took out 40 of my 42 slides about AMP.  But what I wanted to show you today was really, well, what are we doing now in that process to form these public/private partnerships?  


Then the question I asked our friends in the White House is, well, how can we engage The Manufacturing Council in that, and that will say, hah, okay, let's talk about that?  So this afternoon I'm talking to them about, how can we link these.  Well, first -- oh, my goodness, that is really small.  Is there any way to make that bigger? 


Well, I literally am the new guy.  I just joined last month.  We never have earthquakes here, I was told, and never hurricanes.  So shaken by this earthquake, Irene.  I move my family.  How's this for commitment?  I moved my family, sold the house and bought a house.  I'm here for the long haul because I'm fired up about -- we are at a crossroads, honestly.  As the PCAST report showed, we are at a crossroads.  But I am an optimist that we have the potential for real renaissance in U.S. manufacturing and I'm going to do all I can to help with that.  So I joined -- this is quite a story.  It's still -- much more -- of this hurricane.


I figured out, things often go in threes, right?  And I was waiting, what's the third?  And the third, I'm figuring out, is the upcoming budget because we don't know what the budgets are going to be, and this is impacting some of the things that we're planning.  So I think the very tight debates going on up on the Hill about our budget will be the third big storm, and once we get through that we'll have clarity.


What I wanted to talk to you about is three things: first, a quick overview about Commerce and NIST and why it's important.  We're seeing a special role with Commerce and NIST with advanced manufacturing.  Then this AMP, what's it really mean, what are the things that we're doing?  Finally, what are the sorts of things that we're doing in supporting AMP?


Well, very briefly, the National Bureau of Standards was founded in 1901 because "standards are great, everyone should have one", is the joke.  In 1900, there were actually eight different standards for what a gallon was.  Okay.  And that clearly wasn't -- as they showed, standards are essential. Standards are involved with nearly 90 percent of all of the commerce and export that we have. 


So the Congress formed NBS in 1901.  This slide is up there just because I wanted to show the original wording in 1901 said manufacturing and commerce was what it was all about.  Well, in 1988 the mission changed.  It was an increase in scope, and that changed from NBS, National Bureau of Standards, to the National Institute of Standards and Technology.


When I was looking at this, my goodness, this is the actual -- if you ever hear, gosh, they don't get it about manufacturing, this is the original wording.  This is my -- the well-being of the United States depends upon a strong manufacturing base.  I mean, you folks all know this.  It seems that this is forgotten or never learned by many people.  A strong manufacturing sector is essential to a strong industrial economy.  And look at how manufacturing and technology is all throughout that language.  So, I was pretty inspired by that.


So why I wanted to show these intro slides is NIST has a unique mission among all of the agencies.  It's the only agency that our mission is we are non-regulatory and our mission is to support U.S. innovation and industrial competitiveness.  In short, to paraphrase here -- well, actually, before I do that, the at-a-glance, I've taken 49 of the 50 slides out on this one -- am I doing okay, Mike?  But there are two main campuses for the institute.  There's the National Institutes of Health, plural.  There's one institute, two campuses, four centers. 


This is indicative of the sort of culture that Commerce has, where there are 2,800 Federal employees but there are 2,600 non-Federal employees, people there from industry, people there from academia working, working on projects.  That's pretty remarkable, I think.  The two campuses there. 


I'm going to end on this because -- well, when I can, hopefully shortly, I really would like to invite, if it pleases you -- I don't know if you've ever been to NIST, and we would love to perhaps host a meeting of The Manufacturing Council on the NIST campus, put together a tailored presentation about -- not lab-by-lab.  That's part of what we're trying to do, is break down these silos of the labs.  But manufacturing program and industrial program.  So a program-by-program review, as well as we have some very nice facilities that could potentially meet your needs.


So in short here, this is our Under Secretary of Commerce.  He's also the Director of NIST.  That was a title change.  I report to Kent Gallagher.  I really was inspired by this.  His message here is that NIST is industry's national lab.  We're here to serve you.  Manufacturing is NIST's top priority.  By that, NIST and Commerce will be playing a major role in the upcoming Advanced Manufacturing Initiative.  So that's the whole Commerce and NIST commercial.


I want to move on to AMP.  I understand you've had a briefing.  I just want to flesh out that the PCAST, the President's Council of Advisors on Science and Technology -- and pre-apologies.  Everyone in industry loves acronyms, government loves acronyms even more, and then this PPP Is just a brand-new one.  But the PCAST is very good.  I understand you've had a briefing. 


If you haven't read the report I would really encourage you to do so because PCAST is independent.  PCAST is not part of the government.  It is an independent body that advises the President of the four points, and the lion's share of that report called for a Federal Advanced Manufacturing Initiative, a concerted, whole-of-government led by DOC, DoD, and DOE.  Sorry.  You know what those stand for.  This core piece.  Now, that's set up, fast forwarding as well.  It really called for several things.  To simplify these, shared infrastructure facilities. 


How do we help address this so-called "Valley of Death"?  We still lead the world in productivity of our workers.  We still lead the world, no question, about the front-end, the innovation.  The scary part, the trend, is that some of the things that we're designing -- I mean, I relied upon GPS and the internet this morning to get here, all originally founded, funded basic science by the Federal Government.  But my goodness, it affects our lives.  


Well, the scary thing is, some of the other countries have set some very aggressive industrial policies that really short-cut this basic to apply it and getting it scaled up.  Now, with the PCAST report and what the President said, he said we do not have an industrial policy, but what it called for is an innovation policy because there are certain places where there are market failures. 


What can we do -- not that -- is going to do it for anyone, but what can Federal resources do, along with our friends in academia, to help industry really take that technology, leverage it, bring it to market, scale it up.  That's what this is all about.  So that's why I -- partnership with industry and academia.


So what the President announced late in June is this AMP that specifically called for several things.  The Materials Genome Initiative is fantastic. We'd love to give you a briefing on that.  That's going to be foundational to future energy-efficient manufacturing.  And something called this Commerce AMP Tech, so I'd like to explain a bit more there.  This is the group, the steering committee.


The first meeting of this has been announced. It will be October 14, hosted by Georgia Tech.  It's still pretty much a work in process, figuring out exactly how do we do this.  I would offer you, I think the best view here is, AMP is an over-arching umbrella, of which it's not a single program it's multiple efforts, of which I wanted to highlight, at least from our perspective, some of the most important.  So on the complimentary -- I apologize.  I didn't want to edit their slides too much.  It's a bit wordy.  But this Advanced Manufacturing Technology Consortium.  That's one of the things that we are meeting in Commerce.


So moving on to that, this is a brand-new slide.  You're the first to see it here.  But this is their workstream and this culled out four workstreams. Again, I understand you had the briefing so I won't go into what those workstreams are, but I think they're really -- especially the one on worker skills certification, worker development.  But the idea here is permanent models, this partnership project, and then recommendations on how we're going to support and enhance advanced manufacturing in the United States.


So now, okay.  Well, what's it all mean?  What are we doing to support what the President kicked off? Well, the first is, there is this interagency working group on advanced manufacturing.  It actually was started before AMP because it was part of the Competes Act.  So in the Competes Act we are required, and March of this year kicked off this group.  It's an interagency group.  This is a committee under the National Science and Technology Council, and we are working on advanced manufacturing.  


So the objectives here.  What are our real priorities?  Not the laundry list approach that you may have seen in the past, but what are the priorities?  Who's going to be leading it, from which agency?  What's the plan to transfer these to U.S. industry?  Then especially, how do we strengthen the education and training?  Again, the focus, as we're all aware, all business is important but especially our small and medium are especially important.  So we're hard at work on that.  The report is due to Congress in January and things have to be done in, oh, about two weeks.  


So the second is, well, there's lots of programs that Commerce has, and I've taken out the 30 slides here but they are in the backup for you.  I would be pleased to follow up with any one of you if you have interest, but there are the six laboratories and two centers that are actually -- every one of them has important facilities and programs related to the manufacturing industry.


So I won't go into those, but of these six little slices I've prepared a one-page briefer for you. If it does please that we might host you up at the main campus in Gaithersburg, we'd love to have focused executive-level tours of these.


The other one that Dr. Blank mentioned is our MEP network that we're awfully proud of.  We're going to be leveraging MEP for the tech transfer, especially out to small and medium.


This ANTEK--that's the new acronym--is slated to start off at $12 million.  The focus here is, really convene the players.  That seems to be the most popular world right now, is not that one place is going to do it for the other, but we help convene the players between the Federal agencies, academia, and especially industry.  We're working on eliminating the critical barriers, the technology road map, and this consortium.


So what are these supposed to be doing?  Well, actually that's why we have an RFI out, a Request for Information.  We extended that to October 20.  Our Council of Advisors is meeting on the 21st.  We're compiling it all.  But what I'd like to offer is the RFI has a list of things where I'd love to suggest, could you please take a look at that, because it's literally asking the questions, what would you like to see?  You don't need to go through that process if we can figure out -- if I can figure out with Mike, if you can take a look at this and see -- I'd like to comment on that.  We would like to facilitate The Manufacturing Council input on this.


So just wrapping up, what does this all mean? Well, the first one is, I want to turn it back to you. If you are in a unique position, we still have fundamentally -- I mean, my former employer, our biggest problem was hiring 5,000 workers this year and 5,000 next year.  The irony of terribly high unemployment is that many manufacturers are finding it very, very difficult to find skilled workers of the right skills. 


Part of that, we believe, is we -- unlike other countries, we have -- we struggle with this image of manufacturing, that it's dirty, dangerous and it's disappearing.  Well, come to a manufacturing plant.  So, if you could, in your leadership positions, help educate especially your local communities about manufacturing. 


The second is this AMP.  The first regional meeting is at Georgia Tech, but what I've asked is, besides this, could we figure out a special way that The Manufacturing Council -- steering committee of AMP. If you are interested, we'd like to work that out.  So, we'll sort out some process, but if you were interested in having a meeting with or dialogue with the AMP steering committee, that would be a special Manufacturing Council sort of role. 


And then finally the consortia.  I mentioned the ANTEK, the -- meeting at NIST.  You know, these are four of the 30 key questions here, but how should it be structured?  Who should be in these consortia?  How do we set it up with funding?  And most especially, how do we have the right metrics?  How do we know that we're doing the right things?  So I'm sure I completely blew Mike's expectations, but I wanted to cover all of the key areas that are under this AMP umbrella.


PARTICIPANT:  Mike, can you go back to the previous slide?  So I see the opportunities, but what is the mission of this AMP Tech.  Have you defined what you would want to accomplish?  It didn't jump out at me as being really clear.


MR. MOLNAR:  And first --


PARTICIPANT:  Kind of a mission statement.


MR. MOLNAR:  Of AMP in general?  I may have --


PARTICIPANT:  No, no.  Go ahead.  We actually haven't had a specific briefing on AMP yet.


MR. MOLNAR:  Oh, you haven't had that briefing on AMP?


PARTICIPANT:  No, but we will.  We will be having it on it.


MR. MOLNAR:  Okay.


Well, what AMP is called is a broad-based, over-arching partnership, and so that's the P word, industry, universities, and the government.  Really, the pieces of AMP -- how can I boil this down to a crisp answer?


PARTICIPANT:  What do we want to accomplish?


MR. MOLNAR:  Well, let me build off the slide I just got this morning.


PARTICIPANT:  As actually one of the people that was with the President when he announced it, I'm one of the founding people in AMP so I know it very well.  But I think there is great opportunity to merge these, because what kills me, is one of the big things they're taking out of workforce development, you have leading an incredible task force here on workforce development that we have -- no, but you have.  I mean, think about the hours that this team has put in.  So I think one of our challenges is, I think a lot of work has been done here.  It's not obvious to AMP.  We need to get a lot of the great work from this group to that. It feels, truthfully, for somebody who's on that, enormously redundant.  


I think one of our challenges should be to take this work and lift it into that.  I think, frankly, the AMP group is struggling a little bit because, with all due respect, it was thrown together in about 12 days, if we want to be honest about it.  The kick-off in Pittsburgh -- you know, even the leaders and CEOs and the head of all the research institutions are trying to figure it out.  So I think that creates an enormous opportunity, because they want help, to feed the work of this group into it.  I've said enough for one day.


MR. LASZKIEWICZ:  Just another quick comment here.  What's not clear to me, are we trying to solve this -- of skilled labor to support manufacturing?  Are we trying to use the labs to invent advanced manufacturing technologies that will further improve our competitiveness and our productivity?  There's a lot of things that the mission statement would say, but it's not obvious to me what it is.


MR. MOLNAR:  I think you quite nailed it.  This is a plane that has been launched and they're still building it.  The initiative is still not under way.  The first meeting is intended to -- they're going to be reporting out, okay, we have these four workstreams, of which one of them is the skilled workforce.


So I just have to say that I'm not part of -- what AMP is has not been unleashed yet, so that's why it's a little inarticulate here.  Now, my read is that it's not a separate program.  It's linked -- of course the Department of Labor has been working on skills and The Manufacturing Council has been working on skills.  It's starting to -- it will not be redundant.


MS. BROWN:  Can you just go back one slide?  My question is, it seems like the membership -- if this is about small- and medium-sized businesses, when I look at that list, tell me one, like, small business on the industry side and how is this related to small- and medium-sized business?  I mean, as a small business member here, I would be very curious, yeah, to see what are the goals of that.  If you're to help us, probably having some folks on there from the small business side would be critical.


MR. MASSERMAN:  Yes.  Chandra and Mike Laszkiewicz, we're definitely going to follow up with Mike and with folks, OSTP and other folks at AMP.  This will get you guys a lot more information and to be able to link you directly into their process.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  And as Don Graves just walked in, it's the same issue and challenge relative to his activity.  That's one of the things that the Council has been chomping at the bit about: what are other folks doing and how can we interact with them.  It's been a frustration that we haven't really gotten that sorted out yet.  So, sorry to be the victim, but it's an issue and concern that we will all work through.


MR. MOLNAR:  Not at all.  This has been pointed out: well, how can I be on the AMP steering committee?  The answer is, well, until they figure out AMP, they didn't want to add more people to that group. So we're looking for clarity at the October 14th event.  
CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  Thank you very much.  We really appreciate the time you've spent here with us today and we'd like to take you up on the offer, whether it's at a council meeting or another circumstances, to visit and understand even further, particularly after you've figured it out.


MR. MOLNAR:  Very good.  Thank you so much.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  Thanks again.  All right.  Very good.


Francisco?


UNDER SECRETARY SANCHEZ:  Joe, thank you.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  Welcome.  We'd like to hear some comments if you have any.


NATIONAL EXPORT INITIATIVE UPDATE

Francisco Sanchez, Under Secretary of Commerce


for International Trade


UNDER SECRETARY SANCHEZ:  Thank you very much, Joe.  It's great to be with you and with my colleagues. I have to say that the venue we have today is not as interesting as the venue we had with Chandra and United Streetcar and Oregon Ironworks.  We'll try to do better next time you come to the Department of Commerce.  Becky, you weren't able to be with us.  It was probably one of the coolest venues to have a meeting that certainly I've had in my tenure.  So, thank you for doing that.  Thanks to all of you for your continued good work.


Mike?  Did Mike already leave?  Mike, I wanted to offer my welcome to the Department of Commerce.  We're fortunate to have someone with your experience and your enthusiasm and I look forward to working with you.


MR. MOLNAR:  Thank you.


UNDER SECRETARY SANCHEZ:  I want to give you a snapshot on how we're doing on the National Export Initiative and give you just a smorgasbord, if you will, of different activities that we're engaged in to help achieve the President's goal.  As you'll recall, the NEI is a program that the President announced a little over a year and a half ago during a State of the Union.  It calls for a doubling of exports by the end of 2014. 


I'm happy to report that we're on track.  In 2010 we increased exports 17 percent over the previous year.  In the first seven months of this year, we're up 16 percent.  The significance of those numbers are that in order to meet the President's goals we need to be increasing exports at about 14.8 percent each year, so we're off to a good start.


What are we doing here at the Department to make sure we stay on track?  At ITA in particular we're focusing on three things: 1) making much better use of technology for outreach, for servicing our clients.  Our primary web portal is Export.gov.  Export.gov has been around for a while.  It's an adequate site.  I want it to be the best site for export promotion, not only in the United States but in the world.  


So we have been working very hard to move in that direction and we will be rolling out a beta of the new, improved Export.gov next spring, probably around May, and hopefully will be fully operational by the end of summer.  Some of the features -- it'll be much more personal, so when you come on you can create your own web page and, based on your profile, it will drive information that's relevant to you.  So we hope to make it much more interactive, much more useful to the people that come on and use Export. gov.


We're also going to look at other things that we can do in the area of technology.  We're exploring the idea of a virtual trade mission where we use video conferencing to help connect folks, whether it be in Europe or Asia, but we wanted to take full advantage of everything that technology offers.  So that's number one.


Number two, we're really focusing on leveraging partnerships, and leveraging partnerships in every way in the private sector, with State and local government, and with international organizations.  So, I'll very quickly give you a couple of different examples.  About a year and a half ago we launched a program with FedEx, UPS, and the U.S. Postal Service so that when their international sales representatives went out and pitched the services of those three organizations, not only would they pitch those services but they would also pitch exports to additional markets.


If they hooked somebody with the idea that maybe their product could go to an additional market, they should be using the services available to them by the Federal Government.  That program has been terrific.  It's generated over 1,000 leads of companies that have been exporting to only one market and they're now looking to export to a second or third market.


We're taking that partnership with FedEx and expanding it, so that FedEx will go and use their international sales representatives overseas, they'll use their data to identify companies that have certain needs and that those needs are not being met by American companies, and again, when they make their pitch to use FedEx services they'll also say, we noticed that you need these certain supplies, or you need this in your supply chain, and there are these five companies in the U.S. that could service it.  Can we connect you with it?  So again, we'll work with FedEx, so we're taking this to another level.


One of the things that has struck me is, we have, I think, some of the most talented, hardworking trade specialists that you could find, but the challenge is that domestically we have a little over 200.  If we really want to double exports or we want to have a dent in that, it's hard for 200 folks to have the impact to do that.


So we're looking more and more at not only helping individual companies through those trade specialists, but also getting them to work with local communities to set up their own MEIs, if you will, Municipal Export Initiatives, and do things, help them develop an export promotion strategy and also access and leverage the Federal resources that are available.


So we partnered with Brookings.  We identified several communities, including Portland, and we're working with them to develop an export promotion strategy in several communities and we hope to roll out more next year.  So again, this is partnering and leveraging these relationships that can have a huge impact.


And then the third area that we're focusing on is really doing more rigorous analysis on where we need to be focusing in terms of markets and sectors.  So we have had our folks really dig deep and identify how we can best use our export promotion services, our market access services, our industry expertise and use those resources in the most productive way possible. 


So, some of the things that have come out of that effort.  I'll give you the most recent example.  I came back yesterday from Mexico and I led a policy mission on renewable energy and energy efficiency.  Nineteen companies came.  And it wasn't your traditional trade mission where we link up companies with potential buyers or partners.  We took them to the highest levels of the Mexican government that can impact policy in this space, and they heard directly from those policymakers what Mexico's plans are for the next 20 years in this space. 


And by the way, the policymakers for Mexico heard from our companies the challenges, as they see it.  So it was a tremendous interaction between our industry, really good representation of companies, and the leadership in the Mexican government in the renewable energy and energy space.


Last week I launched, in Turkey, the U.S.-Turkey Business Council.  Turkey is one of our targeted emerging markets that came out from the analysis that we have been doing in terms of markets and sectors.  Our exports to Turkey have doubled in the last year.  That's a great opportunity, but great challenges.  I look to Stephen, because I suspect that his company has experienced some of those challenges.  


So we launched this Business Council because one of the things that we're finding is it's one thing for me to go into a meeting with my counterpart and hammer them on a number of market barrier issues, it's another to have the private sector, and especially the private sector from both countries working together, far more effective than I could ever be, or quite frankly as talented as my colleagues are, more effective than they could ever be. 


So we launched that on Monday of last week and it's patterned after what we're doing in Brazil and India.  In Brazil we have the U.S.-Brazil CEO forum, which brings together CEOs from both countries, and they focus on very specific recommendations that they want to see the government's input on.  It's been useful in Brazil.  It's getting more useful in India.  We hope to see similar success in Turkey.


In Mexico -- or rather not Mexico, in Brazil, next week I'll be opening up a trade show with about 176 companies in oil and gas.  This will be the first time that this particular trade show goes to Brazil.  And I don't need to tell anybody who reads the Wall Street Journal or the Financial Times about the opportunities in Brazil in the oil and gas business, so we're partnering with the industry again to take advantage of this forum to get to policymakers and to do a better job of combining our export promotion with our policy development in terms of market barriers.


And finally, let me just touch a little on the trade agreements that are pending and the trade work we're doing.  As you know, there are three pending trade agreements: South Korea, Panama, and Colombia.  I believe the votes are there to pass them.  The President wants to get them passed.  He believes they're essential to our economic recovery and they're quite frankly a part of the American Jobs Act program that he put forward and that Dr. Blank talked to you about a little earlier.


The challenge, quite frankly, has been over a program called TAA.  The frustration is, I believe the votes are there for TAA as well, so I hope we can get through this procedural challenge, or morass.  I don't know what the right description is.  But when you have the votes for the three trade agreements there, you have the votes for TAA, it would seem that would be simple but nothing seems to be simple these days here in Washington.


I'm going to go out on a limb and say I still believe, in spite of these challenges, that we will see these trade agreements passed in the next 60 days.  I say that because I think that the business community in particular has made a very good case on why these trade agreements matter and that we really can't afford to wait any longer.  So I hope you can -- next time we meet, you can say, okay, you were right.  But I know that the White House and the President are working very hard to move this forward. 


The last piece on trade policy.  Very exciting work is being done in the Asia Pacific region with TPP. We as a government are hosting APEC this year in Honolulu in November.  The President has directed his team to work with the other member economies of APEC--not APEC, but a segment of APEC--for a Trans-Pacific Partnership which will serve as the framework for a multilateral free trade agreement down the road.


It's been in the works now for just under two years, which is a very ambitious time frame to even get a framework of a trade agreement, but we've had six rounds of negotiations and the progress has been very positive.  This is an important area.  I believe, if I have the numbers right--I'm going to have to use my cheat sheet here--in terms of -- I don't have it here, but I think it's 54 or so percent of our exports go to this region of the world.  It's a huge percentage of the world GDP.  So I'm excited about that.  I think there are good things that are going to come out of that.


With that, that's my report on where we are with the National Export Initiative and just a snapshot of some of the activities that we're engaged in to make sure we get the President's votes.  Thank you, Joe.  I'm happy to take any questions.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  Thank you.


MR. LASZKIEWICZ:  I have one.  I hope that you are correct, and in the next 60 days we do see passage of the three trade agreements.  I'll ask a question: what are the next priorities for trade agreements, but specifically I'd like to know, since you're going to be in Brazil, are we doing any work to renegotiate our existing trade agreements with Brazil?


UNDER SECRETARY SANCHEZ:  Let me answer the first question.  I would say the priority, after these three, is TPP, the Trans-Pacific Partnership.  Making progress on that, an area that really has such a high GDP, is such a big portion of -- is huge.


MR. LASZKIEWICZ:  Does that include Southeast Asia?


UNDER SECRETARY SANCHEZ:  It includes countries in Southeast Asia.  The beauty of this thing is that this is intended to serve as a platform that can bring other countries online, but we want to make sure that we have a high-value, high-standard agreement so we're working with about nine countries.  The hope is that other countries will add on.  


With regard to Brazil, we are working every day on a number of different issues, but not necessarily an overall trade agreement.  We have a couple of venues that we work on: the U.S.-Brazil CEO Forum, the U.S.-Brazil Commercial Dialogue.  The Commercial Dialogue is a program that -- I'd say that we have -- different parts of the government have carrots and sticks.


The Commercial Dialogue is the carrot.  We work on best practices, on capacity building, and we do so in areas of standards, for example, and NIST has played an important role in improving our cooperation on standards in certain sectors.  We work on issues of trade facilitation at the border.  So we're doing things that are, I would say, blocking and tackle.  They're not sexy enough to make the front page of the newspaper or a business magazine, but every single day we're hammering away at specific barriers that make it quite hard to do business there.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  Okay.  One last question. Please.


MR. SPEER:  I have a country-specific question.  I just got back from spending 10 days in Iraq.  There's a lot of business potential in Iraq.  I've noticed there's pretty much Europeans, Asians, the Turks are there, but there's very little American businesses over there.  There's not a lot of support with the Commercial Foreign Service area in the U.S. Embassy.  Are there any programs or anything going on as far as support for that?


UNDER SECRETARY SANCHEZ:  I beg to differ with you, because we do have a team there.  I led a trade mission to Iraq about a year ago this time with about nine U.S. companies.  And you're absolutely right that there seem to be more countries from Europe, from Asia, than from the U.S.  It has been a challenge and we have been trying to remedy that.  We do have a team in place there. 


We are continuing to work closely with the Iraqi government, and also with our sister agencies, in particular the State Department, to try to get the word out.  So we do have resources there.  I agree with you, there are opportunities.  We are trying hard to encourage U.S. companies to take a look at that more.  There are still challenges, as you well know, but there are opportunities, too.


Is that it?


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  That's it.  Thank you very much.


UNDER SECRETARY SANCHEZ:  Thank you very much, Joe.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  Appreciate it.


UNDER SECRETARY SANCHEZ:  Good to see you all.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  All right.  I'd like to turn it over to Nicole now, who will introduce our various agencies for their updates.  If you'd like to give us a little background to this, we'd appreciate it.


AGENCY BRIEFINGS

Nicole Lamb-Hale, Assistant Secretary of Commerce


for Manufacturing and Services


SECRETARY LAMB-HALE:  Sure.  Okay.  Well, thanks, everyone.  It's good to see everyone.  I am so sorry that I couldn't stay for the full meeting in Portland, but we did have -- I enjoyed the time that I was able to spend with you.


One of the things that I want to do with this meeting as we talked about putting an agenda together, is to really focus on how we as an administration have been responsive to recommendations both of this Council and a prior Council.  Sometimes government moves at a snail's pace, but, you know, as I was telling Joe last week, incremental change is still change and we'll keep working at it.  We want you to know and see for yourself the work that we've been doing in furtherance of the advice that you've given us.


One of the things that I wanted to mention in particular from the last Council was the notion that, you know, access to credit is an important issue to small businesses.  It's something that we need to work on.  An example of us hearing you is that the Small Business Jobs Act of 2010 actually included recommendations, specific recommendations, from the letter on this topic from the last Council--as many 

of you may recall, Jim McGregor chaired that subcommittee--and that language from the letter that was put together ended up in the Small Business Jobs Act.


You heard from Acting Secretary Blank about the President's American Jobs Act, which seeks to continue 100 percent expensing into 2012.  Well, again, that's something that has been a consistent recommendation both of the last Manufacturing Council and the current one.  We know that it will help small- and medium-sized manufacturers, and so that is a focus again that, with your help, we've been able to push and we are hopeful that the Congress will pass the Jobs Act right away.


So with that, what I'd like to do is go through and, as you're receiving now, in response to a request to kind of show how everything comes together, the various Councils that are involved, the various activities around manufacturing.  You're receiving now an illustration of how we see the worked that this Council does and other Councils across the government and the various advisory committees that exist, business advisory committees' work.  We hope to have a virtuous cycle.  We'll get into that more.  


We wanted to give you that illustration.  You are also receiving -- you've received by now a matrix that really highlights some of the accomplishments we've made, some of the areas where we are making progress, we're not quite there, and then some of the areas where it may be that there are longer term plays. But again, we have a working matrix so that you understand that we are listening to your recommendations and that we're working piece by piece to try to address them.


So instead of kind of going through line by line, what I wanted to do is to have some of our colleagues across the government to talk about areas that exist in your recommendations that they're working on.  So what I want to do first is introduce, from OSHA, our colleague, Jordan Barab, who is the Deputy Assistant Secretary of Labor in the OSHA and he will talk about some of the things that they've been doing to help.
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Jordan Barab, Deputy Assistant Secretary of Labor,


Occupational Safety and Health Administration


MR. BARAB:  All right.  Thank you very much, Nicole.  Thanks for inviting me here.


Let me talk a little bit about what OSHA is doing, and then I'll say a few sentences about the three items on the list here that you all have commented on.


First of all, OSHA has got a very simple mission: we are here to protect workers from getting sick, getting injured, and getting killed in the workplace.  One thing I think we all have in common is whether we're in good economic times or bad, whether we're talking about large companies or small companies. It is not a good thing when workers get sick, again, when they get injured, or when they killed.  It's not good for them, it's not good for their families, it's not good for their communities, it's not good for their companies, and it's certainly not good for our economy.  I think based on that, where we can all agree, I think, is where we take off.


I'm very interested in what's been going on here, especially Mike's presentation, because we are very concerned about technology and innovation in this country.  That's kind of the basis of the regulations that we do.  One thing we found throughout the history of OSHA is that OSHA has consistently over-estimated the costs of our regulations because we have not taken into account -- we don't take into account the great innovation that takes place after these regulations are issued.  


We've been accused, or in some cases praised, of issuing what we call technology-forcing regulations.  In fact, we've seen the cost of many of these regulations that were feared to be burdensome actually come way down because of the technology that you all have initiated in addressing these issues.


Some of the things we're doing, and one of the issues that I'll address here, is over the last decades that OSHA has been in existence we've sometimes taken a step back, giving exemptions to certain industries, for example, when we felt that the technology -- the feasibility is not quite up to where it needs to be.  In the ensuing years, or sometimes ensuing decades, the technology has actually caught up and now we're trying to catch some of our regulations up to where the technology and innovation has brought us.


In general--say in general, always--we are interested in regulations and standards that work.  It doesn't make any sense to us, it doesn't make any sense to you, obviously, for us to send requirements out of there that just don't make sense in the workplace.  We, in every one of our -- in all of our -- throughout our regulatory activity we have extensive opportunities for public contact, for public input.  We have notice and comment for our regulations.  


We have extensive hearings across the country for many of our larger ones, we have stakeholder meetings, a number of things that go way over and above what we're actually required to do by law.  That, again, is because we need to hear from you, we need to hear from workers, we need to hear from you all about actually what works, what makes sense, what doesn't make sense.  So I strongly invite you, when we have hearings or notice and comment, to let us know.  Again, look at our proposals and let us know what works and what doesn't work.


Let me go through a couple of sentences on each of the three items that I know you all have concerns about.  One thing is a regulation that we're working on that will make some small modifications in our on-site consultation program.  Now, our on-site consultation program is OSHA's really flagship initiative to help small businesses address health and safety problems in their workplaces.  These on-site consultation programs provide free assistance to small businesses.  It also exempts them during the consultation process, and sometimes even after that, from enforcement inspections.  So we are very supportive of that.  


We are proposing to make some very small changes in that, basically to make our consultation programs more consistent with our voluntary protection program and some of the other consultation programs and compliance assistance programs we have.


Let me give you one example.  For our voluntary protection program, which is our main program especially for large businesses that excel, we have some -- basically they're exempt from a lot of inspections, with a few exceptions, one of which, for example, is what we call referrals.  If we have a fire chief going through a plant and finds a serious problem, they can report it to us and we are then allowed, if it's a serious problem, to go in and inspect despite the fact they may be a member of a voluntary protection program.  We're also trying to do that, or are proposing to do that, with our consultation program and the SHARP program, which is for small businesses that excel.


We are trying very hard and we have absolutely no interest in weakening the wall between consultation and enforcement.  That is not our intention.  We have heard everybody's comments.  We got a large number of comments.  There was a lot of concern over that and we are, in fact, in the process of addressing those comments.


Let me move on to a couple of other initiatives we did.  One was to basically get rid of some exemptions, some enforcement exemptions, around our hearing protection standard.  This is what I just talked about.  Many years ago we basically exempted companies from having to employ engineering controls at certain levels of noise. 


Again, in the decades ensuing, we basically have found that the technology has advanced so far, that actually engineering controls, which are much more effective than personal protective equipment in protecting hearing, have made such advances that we have no problem really with requiring, in more cases, engineering controls.


Now, we did not do -- and I will admit this.  We did not do a good job of rolling that out.  We thought what was obvious to us would be obvious to everyone.  It was not.  There was great fear sown throughout the land that this would impose huge costs on businesses.  That was not our intent; certainly it never will be our intent.  So we did withdraw that in favor of doing some more stakeholder meetings and really listening more and talking more about what we are intending.


We have tentatively scheduled a stakeholder meeting at the beginning of November to deal with hearing protection with hearing loss.  I say tentative because we are planning to do it, but I've learned in this job never to count my chickens before the Federal Register notice appears.  So, we hope to be doing that at the beginning of November.  If any of you have interest in that, certainly we'd invite you to do that.


Another, what we considered a small issue that has been inflated into a major issue, is adding a column to our reporting, our injury and illness reporting log for musculo-skeletal disorders.  Right now businesses are required to report musculo-skeletal disorders when they occur, and they do.  We have over 300,000 reported every year.  They're still one of the largest causes of workplace injury and illness in our workplaces.  What this would do, is basically when you have reported something, to put a check -- we'll have a column, to put a check in the column.  That is all it requires. 


Now, there's been a lot of concern about this too that it changes the reporting requirements, changes the reporting requirements aside from the box, that it will somehow change our enforcement of musculo-skeletal disorders.  It does none of that.  We've tried to explain this.  We've tried to listen to concerns and respond to those concerns. 


We did temporarily withdraw that and we went through a round of small business hearings to listen to small business concerns around there.  There are a lot of small business concerns with musculo-skeletal disorders. The vast majority of those are concerns with the current requirements, not this new checkbox.  So we have gone back though and simplified the requirements and tried to explain them better and we'll probably be re-introducing that as well.  Again, you know, we're always open to your comments.


MR. LASZKIEWICZ:  Jordan, I don't understand.  Why did they change it in the first place?


MR. BARAB:  All right.  Good question.  We changed it in the first place because we found that having -- if you look at the -- I don't know if you're familiar with our --


MR. LASZKIEWICZ:  A little bit.


MR. BARAB:  -- log, but there are a number of columns there now.  There's a column for hearing loss, there's a column for skin disorders.  But we find that there's especially a health problem that is fairly widespread but can have many manifestations in order for both workers and businesses to address those problems.  We found it very helpful for them, as well as for us, to have a column where you can actually just look at the bottom of the sheet and figure out how big a problem that is in the workplace.


It's been shown to be effective again in a number of other areas where we have these columns.  Given that musculo-skeletal disorders have a number of different origins, a number of different manifestations and yet collectively need to be addressed in more or less the same way, we thought it would be much better to have this column.  In fact, OSHA actually, when we re-did our recordkeeping standard in 2000, we actually required that.  It was then withdrawn and we're basically trying to put it back in again.  There were hearings about it and that type of thing at that point.  But basically it's just a matter of being able to better address these problems in the workplace and to be able to count them better.


The last one that we talked about, or that you were concerned about, was our injury and illness prevention program.  The injury and illness prevention program should be nothing new, I don't think, to probably anybody in this room.  These are -- especially most big businesses in this country, actually have very well-working injury and illness programs that have been proven to reduce injuries and illnesses in the workplace.


Injuries and illness prevention programs are basically systematic programs to identify and then fix health and safety hazards in the workplace, our VPP members--Voluntary Protection Program members--who are the best of the best, our SHARP program members who are the best of the best in small businesses.  It's a requirement for all of them and they will all sing the praises of these programs.


So our intention here is basically to bring these programs from the best to the rest, to make sure that all businesses have them.  Many people say that this should have been the first standard that OSHA passed and it's long overdue.  There have been some concerns about how we're going to enforce this.  In other words, we have a lot of support for the programs in theory--in practice, actually--but there's a lot of concern with how we're going to enforce it.  We understand that concern.


When we get to the small business review process, the SBRFA process sometime hopefully in the next year, we will be, for the first time, issuing also an enforcement white paper to let people know how we're intending to enforce this, more or less.  That will be the first time we've really done that.  Usually we wait till the standard is issued to talk about our enforcement strategy.


So that's pretty much it in a nutshell.  Again, we are, you know, very interested in hearing -- always very interested in hearing -- we did note your recommendations here.  Some of your recommendations were to withdraw some of these initiatives for specific concerns.  We hear that.  Our intention is not necessarily to withdraw because of those concerns, but certainly to address those concerns as we move forward on this.  I mean, they are legitimate concerns.  They're concerns we have heard not just from you all, but others.  It is our full intention to, as we move forward in the regulatory process, continue to listen to you as we move through the process and to address those concerns.


So, I'd be glad to take any questions if we have time.


MR. GAMBRELL:  Yes, Jordan.  Thank you.  I was the co-chair of the Competitive Committee, and we kind of looked at this.  One of the things that we looked at, really, is make sure we have business in early engagement before you get so far down the road you're basically telling businesses what they're going to do without really inserting the value proposition.


Because there's a lot of companies out here that have shown integration of EH&S is a business proposition and a value creator.  When you reduce injuries, environmental exposures, et cetera, it creates value for businesses.  So I think just making sure businesses engage well ahead is really the secret and what we were trying to get across.


MR. BARAB:  Absolutely.  We've had five stakeholder meetings already on our injury and illness prevention program.  We are going to go into the SBRFA, you know, the small business process.  When, at some point, we get a proposal out--and it's not in the too near future--we will hold public hearings around the country.  


OSHA public hearings are a lot of fun, in case none of you have participated in them, because not only do you get to listen to people, the witnesses up there, but if you are a witness yourself you actually get to question the witnesses yourself.  So if any of you are frustrated lawyers in your other lives, it's a great opportunity not just to ask questions that haven't been asked, but actually to participate fully in the process.  


So we fully agree we need to listen early.  We have been listening early.  We want to address a lot of the problems, especially -- I know you've raised some of the problems with grandfathering in successful programs and we fully intend to do that, too.  We have no intention of interrupting programs that have proven to be successful at all.  That's totally opposite of our intention.  We want to copy those programs rather than to impede them.  So, you know, feel free to -- I mean, I strongly encourage you to participate as we move along.  Yes.


MR. LASZKIEWICZ:  Jordan, I'm not sure I understood your explanation, but it sounded to me as though you're trying to create some incentives for manufacturers who design safety into their process.  Did I hear that right?


MR. BARAB:  Yes.  That's not our primary intention.  You won't see that actually written into -- but that tends to be the effect, which we strongly welcome.  As we -- we've seen it in a number of our standards, that as we will issue them, base our cost estimates on the current technology, find a few years down the road that it turned out to be much cheaper because businesses looked at that and said, we have a much cheaper way of actually fixing this problem than OSHA could conceive of and have actually done that.  So it's kind of a beneficial side effect, I'd say, of our regulation.


MR. LASZKIEWICZ:  But isn't there some way that you could help with that?  The point I'm trying to make is that not everyone is going to be able to afford to do that, especially small- and medium-sized companies.  So you have the manual costs associated with administering health and safety, but if a company does make that investment they should -- it would seem as though they should get some relief from a reporting or from an administrative support requirement if they have the automation that's protecting their employees.


MR. BARAB:  Well, we do have certain programs, such as our Voluntary Protection Program, that has some exemptions and there are some other programs we have.  We don't usually base those on the technology, we base those on the outcome, which is the injuries and illnesses that come out of that.


A basic requirement of our law is to ensure both technical and economic feasibility of all our standards, so even though we hope for, we encourage, we welcome innovation that comes after we issue something, we are not allowed and we don't issue any standards where we feel that any large industry or even subsectors of that industry would find it technologically or economically infeasible.  So we only move forward when we feel that it's feasible, when the evidence shows that it's feasible.  The point I'm trying to make, is things become even more feasible afterwards.  That's the experience that we've had.


SECRETARY LAMB-HALE:  And in the interest of time, I want to thank Jordan.  I think you'll be here for a little bit --


MR. BARAB:  Yes.  Yes.


SECRETARY LAMB-HALE:  -- to be able to answer more questions off-line.


I want to introduce Nancy Cleeland, who is from the NLRB.  This is the first time that National Labor Relations Board has participated in our Council meeting.  She's from the Office of Public Affairs.  So Nancy, would you like to make a presentation?
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Nancy Cleeland, Director of Public Affairs,


National Labor Relations Board


MS. CLEELAND:  Sure.  I really appreciate the opportunity to come here and the invitation, and I hope it's the beginning of a dialogue.  We have not been in touch with your group at all.  The National Labor Relations Board is an independent agency.  


I thought I'd just tell you a little bit about us because you may be unfamiliar with the work that we do.  We're pretty obscure most of the time, although it comes and goes.  We've been the target of great interest before, and we certainly are right now.


I'm sure that you have a lot of questions for me.  
I can answer -- I'll answer what I can and take back any questions and comments to our leadership. I also want to pass along an invitation from our new chairman, Martin Pierce, to meet with all, or a delegation of you, at any time, either in person or by phone.  We do want to be open and we do want to have a dialogue with business.


So, the National Labor Relations Board.  In the past year we've received about 20,000 charges in 32 regional offices around the country.  That is how almost everything that we do begins.  We reached nearly 8,000 settlements as a result of those charges and issued about 1,200 complaints.  


A complaint is issued by our agency after we do an investigation and find merit.  Once the complaint issues, it sets up a hearing before an administrative law judge.  The decision of that judge can be appealed to the full board here in Washington.  So, that's just a little bit about how our process works.


Last year we held more than 1,500 elections, secret ballot elections, for union representation, a much smaller number on de-certification votes.  The board issued more than 300 decisions last year.  You're probably familiar with a small number of them.  Most were fairly uncontroversial.  The majority were unanimous decisions.  We have 1,600 employees in 32 regional offices and our five-member board -- members of our five-member board and the general counsel are nominated by the President and confirmed by the Senate. So, that's just a little bit about what we do.


I see on this list just one issue concerning the National Labor Relations Board.  I suspect that you have other issues on your mind and I'm happy to talk about them.  I thought I would just go over two main areas.  One, is the rule that is discussed in this list.  I actually brought up some of the posters with me. 


So as you know, we did issue a rule, a final rule, last month that requires most private sector employers to post a notice about NLRA rights.  This is what the notice looks like.  It's available.  Feel free -- I've got a bunch of copies here if anybody wants to take one and look it over.  It is due to be posted on November 14.  It is able to be downloaded and printed out from our website and we'll also mail a copy to anyone who requests it.


This notice was first proposed almost a year ago by the board based on a petition that it had received from an academic.  We went through the rulemaking process, the Federal rulemaking process, which the board rarely has done.  We've only issued a handful of rules, actually, with the full board.


And we did have a 60-day comment period.  We received about 7,000 comments.  As a result of those comments, changes were made to the poster and in the language, with distribution, and even in the way it's going to be printed out.  For example, people said we don't have printers that can handle that size, so we now make it available in 8 1/2 x 11, two pages, and you just tape them together and put them up.


I know one of the complaints, or people had talked about this as the "how to form a union poster". That's certainly not the way we look at it.  This is just meant to inform employees of their rights under the National Labor Relations Act as other replaced posters do for health and safety, minimum wage, discrimination issues.  It talks about freedom to join and form a union.  It also talks about the right to refrain from that activity.  It talks about the obligations of unions, as well as the obligations of employers.  So, again, if you'd like to take a look at it, I do have copies here.


Another big issue that people have been talking about lately is a set of decisions that were issued by the board in late August at the end of the previous chairman's term, Chairman Wilma Leedman.  There were three particular decisions that some people had issues with.  I've heard it referred to as the "August Onslaught".  But that's to compare to the "September Massacre of 2007" where things went the other way.  


So there is a bit of oscillation on the board depending on who is in the administration, but as I said, the majority of decisions are pretty much following the law and usually we get unanimous decisions on those.  But these three decisions that were issued in August, one of them reversed a decision that was issued during the Batista board under George W. Bush, which itself was very controversial and overturned decades of precedent.  Another one of these decisions overturned precedent that dated to 2001, which also had overturned precedent.  So you can see in these two cases, there was some back and forth.


The third case of interest clarified some rules about the type of workers that may be in a unit in long-term health care facilities.  This has been described as the Micro Union Decision, but really it's a very narrow decision.  There had been some consideration early on when they asked for briefs on this to make it much broader, but in the end the board narrowed the scope to long-term health care facilities and just decided to have a regular standard that's applied to other facilities to the long-term health care facilities. 


In that case it was a number of certified nursing assistants who wanted to join a union, and the question was, could they join a union by themselves or did they have to include the maintenance people, the cooks, people in the cafeteria.  The board decided in this case that they could form a union on their own.


So those are two of the big areas that we hear a lot about.  You may be interested in another big case that we have going on, and if anybody wants to talk about that one I'd be happy to answer questions.


SECRETARY LAMB-HALE:  I wonder if the chairman has time for a discussion on that.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  We discussed that one at dinner last night.


SECRETARY LAMB-HALE:  And I'm sure Nancy would be willing to go to dinner with the Council.


(Laughter)


MS. CLEELAND:  It was lots of fun.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  It was lots of fun.  But in the spirit of time and being respectful of others, yes, I think we probably should move on.


SECRETARY LAMB-HALE:  Okay.


I want to call on Dr. Spriggs, who has been just a great partner in all this, brought, you know, Nancy and Jordan to the table today, has been working very closely with the Workforce Development Committee.


So would you like to make a few remarks, Dr. Spriggs?
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Dr. William Spriggs, Assistant Secretary for Policy,


U.S. Department of Labor


DR. SPRIGGS:  Thank you.  In the interest of time, I will keep to just some updates on some of the workforce things since we've gotten to do some regulatory things.


I do appreciate Nancy and Jordan coming, because I think we were serious about making sure that you understand that we're serious about hearing from you.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  And it's very, very valuable.  I really want you to recognize that we appreciate it, we really do.


DR. SPRIGGS:  So the update is, I'm very happy that, along with the Department of Commerce and the Economic Development Agency that Acting Secretary Blank mentioned, we got the Job Accelerator out.  This was an effort to combine job training with the regional innovation partners.  Fortunately, some of you took it up and did respond and participate in that process.  I want to remind you again that the H1B training grants -- we'll announce those, I think it's next week, now.  We did the TAA grant announcement, community college announcement, earlier this week and we're going to do the H1B training grant announcement next week.


But there's a second round.  And just as a reminder, a big component of this includes on-the-job training.  So depending upon the size of your firm, that means that we would subsidize the training of someone from 90 percent, and then if it gets too big then it goes down to the smaller limit of just 10 percent.  But it's a sliding scale based on the size of a firm.  The acknowledgement that small firms have a hard time competing for high-quality talent and in recruiting people, you probably need to have some help and -- process.  


My example is always that -- our undergraduates who finish in engineering, they get paid $80,000 a year, but many small firms can't take on an $80,000-a-year engineer who hasn't done anything more than pass a couple of exams in class.  Bigger companies of course do that because they're absorbing the training costs.  They're looking at a bigger picture.  So this is an opportunity, I think, for small firms to actually compete for some of the high talent that we're producing out of our universities, as well as an opportunity for--we want to help encourage this--for you to develop job letters and career letters.  


So there's the high-end part of the grant, and also has you with the ability to partner with community colleges and community-based organizations so you can create career ladders.  You can bring somebody on that you will get up to the skill level that an H1B visa would require.


Now, mostly we do this in health care, where we see that somebody can move their way up.  Manufacturing, of course, is a little more difficult because the person -- you're really supposed to be training for somebody where they would have an associate's or bachelor's degree.  But hopefully you do have some way to upscale your workers.  The idea is that if you have experienced workers and you get their skill levels up, then you're going to open up job -- improve that.


We got great input from the Council on the Workforce Innovation Fund.  Those conversations are still proceeding and hopefully soon we'll be announcing the competition, the work of the SBA for the Workforce Innovation Fund.  This is an opportunity from the administration to go way outside of the box.  You can give great input to that process so that we can try to tailor a good experiment that we can build on, and we're looking forward to your participation on that.  So, I just want to put those out there.


SECRETARY LAMB-HALE:  Thank you so much for joining us again, as always.  He's also a regular at The Manufacturing Council, so we really appreciate that.


Now I'd like to introduce Don Graves, who many of you know as well.  Don is the Executive Director of the Jobs Council.  I've been bending his ear, and so has Mike, about making sure that the recommendations from The Manufacturing Council are integrated with the Jobs Council.  I think you see some of the results of that in the President's proposed American Jobs Act.  I know that, Mike, you have been working pretty closely with Darlene Miller from the Jobs Council in coordinating next steps.


So Don, why don't you give us an update?
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Don Graves, Executive Director,


President's Council on Jobs & Competitiveness


MR. GRAVES:  Well, you stole some of my thunder.


(Laughter)


MR. GRAVES:  Thank you all.  It's good to be with you again.  I really do appreciate being able to spend a little bit of time with you and all the work that you all are doing.  The Jobs Council very much values the thoughts that you all have been willing to share with us.


As Nicole said, we have been working very closely with the Secretary, with Nicole, with Mike, with Jenna, with Matt and the entire Commerce team on a whole range of issues, and they are briefing us very frequently on the types of things that you all have been working on.


Really, it's been a point of pride, I think, at least between our two silos to not be siloed and share the ideas and the work that we're doing together. Nicole is exactly right, the ideas that you have put together and shared with the Secretary have been shared with the full Jobs Council, which is part of the reason that we've sort of signed on to all the things that you've done.  


In fact, it's led to several areas where we've essentially taken -- instead of us spending a lot of time coming up with new ideas or reinventing the wheel and doing that, we've just taken your ideas and incorporated them into the Jobs Council's recommendations as well.


I know that there's a little bit of confusion about how all these different organizations, these FOCA committees, work together.  Matt and I have been -- excuse me.  Mike and I have been talking about ways that we can work together more closely.  We'd like to make an offer.  We have a series of ongoing listening-in-action sessions that we do across the country.  It's really a means for us to get feedback from businesses all across the country, hear from local communities about the things that they're seeing day to day so that we can then convey that to the President directly.


We'd like to offer to have members of The Manufacturing Council participate in those activities going forward.  We know that there are going to be several that we are holding over the next few months that have direct relevance to the types of things that you all are interested in.  


So some of those are on investment in the U.S., foreign investment, as well as domestic investment.  We have some around workforce development, some on high-growth companies and small businesses.  So these are the sorts of things that I think fit very nicely together with what you all have been working with.  Again, we're going to continue working with the team here and hopefully we'll have many of you attending some of those in your communities.


I do want to second what Nicole said.  It's been a really good working relationship.  Mike, thank you for agreeing, and Rockwell agreeing, to work with Darlene Miller from the Jobs Council, focusing on manufacturing workforce development.  We know that there are critical issues relative to the workforce and that is certainly one of them.  


I think that the work that will be highlighted in the not-too-distant future with the National Association of Manufacturers, the Manufacturing Institute, is really going to be the type of thing that we can then take all across the country and begin to change the nature of how we get our workforce in a place that actually meets the needs of businesses for today and tomorrow.


In addition to that, we recently launched an effort around engineering.  Bill talked about the need for engineers and that there's this mismatch between the engineers who are highly paid and going to the big companies and dealing with the issues of the gap for the medium-sized and smaller businesses.  We know that there's also a huge gap in the number of engineers that are coming out of our U.S. schools, and also those who are no longer able to stay in the country because of immigration issues.  


Part of the effort that we're focused on is making sure that companies find a way to provide the support for engineers so that they stay in that career path.  You know, there are a bunch of folks in the stem-related fields like myself who initially thought, oh, I'm going to go in and get my advanced degree, and then along the way get wooed by the legal field, or by investment banking, massage therapy, whatever it may be, and that's a real problem, a critical problem, for the country.


So we are focused on ways that we can keep those folks who are interested right now in the engineering field by providing internships, apprenticeships, and scholarships.  We already have -- I think it's 6,000 -- actually, it's closer to 7,000 internships that we've already been able to get companies to agree to do in the next year.  


We hope to be able to increase the number of engineers by 10,000 graduating every year going forward.  I think the next phase, and I'm giving you a little bit of an inside peek, will be an annual increase.  So it's a 10,000-a-year, by year.  So we're going to just keep ramping that up every year.  We're really excited about that.


The work that you all have done, I think, on workforce is just tremendous.  You all are leaps and bounds ahead of us, so we're going to continue to incorporate all your great ideas and want to talk with you more about it.  I don't want to spend too much time because you have other things to do.


Infrastructure is a big item for the Jobs Council; I know it's big for you all.  You've seen a lot of it in the Jobs Act.  We're focused on the four key areas of air and surface transportation, broad-band, and transmission.  Those are the key areas for the Jobs Council, they're key areas for a lot of the members of The Manufacturing Council.  We want to work with you on that.


Regulatory reform is another big issue.  We've spent a lot of time looking at several different areas. You know about the President's signing of the two executive orders that came as a direct result of the work of The Manufacturing Council and the Jobs Council to look back at the work of all the agencies in terms of regulations that are on the books.


Both the agencies that are directly under the Executive Office of the President, as well as the independent agencies -- all of the agencies are looking back right now and I think we're going to have some announcements in the very near future on that.


High-growth companies.  Capital access for small businesses is a huge issue.  It's something that the Jobs Council is very focused on.  The President has spent a lot of talking about the need to find ways to support small businesses in the Jobs Act and in his speeches.  The Jobs Council hears the things that you all have talked about as well, and we're going to have a set of recommendations at the next meeting with the President, which is October 11, which mirror some of the things that you all have talked about.


I should also just quickly say that the work that you all do and that we do in the Jobs Council overlaps with some of the things that you see, like Skills for America's Future, Change the Equation, and so on and so forth.  I know members of the Jobs Council wonder how that work goes on.  


I know that's probably something that you all don't really fully understand.  But basically all the ideas that you put together, that the Jobs Council puts together, PCATS, the Export Council, feed into a policy process that's led by the Domestic Policy Council, by the National Economic Council. 


There is, in fact, a monthly--and I think it's going to increase over time--coordination meeting amongst all the different advisory committees where we share these ideas, where we talk about things that we can do going forward, and those also feed into these efforts that are administration-wide.


I'll just leave you with a couple of things that we've been working on that have also come up as presidential announcements, or will soon.  Business USA.  We heard loud and clear all across the country, whether it was the Jobs Council, whether it was through you all, the Small Business Jobs Act tour, the Start-Up American tour, businesses, particularly medium- and small-sized businesses, have a hard time understanding all the sets of resources that are available across government.


There's just no one easy way to get that information and get it in a way that's not sort of encyclopedic.  I know a lot of the agencies' websites--not Commerce's website on exporting, but others--you search and then you get 10, or maybe it's 1,000 web pages of different programs and there's no way to digest it.  Business USA is going to be a portal for businesses to go in, key in the correct words, and get the streamlined information that they need that's directly relevant to them so you don't have to search through every agency and every website that's out there.


Infrastructure projects.  The President signed a presidential memorandum as a direct result of some requests of the Jobs Council.  I think you would agree it's important to identify those infrastructure projects that are going to be prioritized, that are going to be announced in the short term, because as businesses you can't make decisions unless you know when these things are going to happen. 


The President has called for prioritization.  I think in the next couple of weeks we'll have identified those infrastructure projects across government that will be coming down the pike.  In fact, there is a Dashboard that was also part of that that identifies where in the process these infrastructure projects are and where things -- how things are going to be moving going forward.


The final thing is that we've been working, like you, with Commerce and the Patent & Trade Office over the patent process.   We know that that's a huge issue for companies, particularly for manufacturing companies.  Dave Kappos has been phenomenal.  He's been very responsive to us.  I'm sure it's thanks to the great work of the Secretary and the team here.  They're reducing the backlog on patents, they're streamlining the process.  There's going to be some announcements, I think, around that.  The Jobs Council is very focused on it.  There's a whole bunch of other things that we could talk about, like medical devices and EPA and all these other things.  But I'll stop there and we'll save that for the next meeting and share with you the work that we've been doing.


SECRETARY LAMB-HALE:  And I see that our medical device guys' faces are lighting up.


MR. ARGUELLO:  Can you give us a minute of medical device --


MR. GRAVES:  Sure.  Sure.  We have had some great conversations with the FDA and with the administrator.  I believe that they are going to have some announcements very soon about how they improve the process for the approval on medical devices.  I don't want to get out in front of them, but it is a high priority for the Jobs Council.  I know it's a priority for many of you here, and it's something that the administration and the President have heard loud and clear.  So we're going to have some improvements on them very, very soon.  Again, I can't give you anything more than that because I don't want to get out in front of the team at FDA.


SECRETARY LAMB-HALE:  Okay.  Thanks so much, Don.


And Peter, I'm so sorry.  We have so little time remaining, but we do want to hear from the Department of Energy on what you're doing around the recommendations.


AGENCY BRIEFINGS

Peter Weeks, Clean Energy Advisor,


U.S. Department of Energy


MR. WEEKS:  Sure.  Thank you very much for having us.  I also want to recognize that -- Secretary Chu was also there and he is a big fan of having more engineers out there, so this is an extensive -- of the Department.


So, very quickly, I wanted to point out that the Department is also working with another advisory committee here, the Energy Efficiency and Rural Energy Advisory Committee, on some of their recommendations that are due to come out in the near future.  Some of those recommendations go so far as having the Department think through and implement criteria for expos regarding export initiatives.  So we're taking those under consideration, seeing what's feasible, but I just wanted to keep the group abreast of that.


The second thing I want to highlight -- is the process that I mentioned in the spring and summer is finished.  The quadrennial technology review, which is an off-shoot of the quadrennial energy review as recommended from PCAST, was DOE's scrubbing of our own policy -- decision-making policies.  So we've gone through and gone back and basically gone through each technology, decided what was the priority in terms of our national energy priorities, and sort of racked and stacked.  


That paper is now public, so we can share that and it'll give a clear -- you may have seen some articles around this basically that says we're going to fund more batteries and fuels and transportation technologies, but that's not really the full picture.  So I encourage you to take a look at that, at least the executive summary.  It was a great process and we actually concluded that last week.


We continue to put out more funding opportunities for advanced manufacturing in solar, wind, geothermal, and hydro.  Those are the most recent that come to mind.  We continue to sort of push the envelope on what becomes more efficient, what products are best served for our domestic market and an export market.  Then I understand that we also have some discussion around energy efficiency standards.  I encourage the subcommittee to reach out to Leo and myself.  We can set up a separate meeting to go through those and see what DOE is going to take on as Leo looks to build his program up in the building technologies and in the -- program.


SECRETARY LAMB-HALE:  Okay.  Thank you so much, Peter.  And I did want to mention that we will have a separate briefing with the EPA.  I know that that's another agency that is really going to be involved in some of the recommendations that you've made.  I did want to mention, though, that certainly they've been listening, been working closely with industry on the boiler -- and you did hear the announcement on ozone rules.  They weren't probably happy about that, but again, that is something that demonstrates that we're hearing you.


So what I'd like to do, Joe, is to have some closing remarks from Peter and then close up the meeting before we're booted out of here.  There's another meeting coming into this room.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  They're standing outside, waiting to get in.


SECRETARY LAMB-HALE:  Right.  Right.


CLOSING REMARKS

Peter Perez, Deputy Assistant Secretary


for Manufacturing


DEPUTY ASSISTANT SECRETARY PEREZ:  It's great to see you all.  I've been around the country doing the White House Business Councils.  I've just returned from leading a delegation of industry to the Civil Nuclear annual meeting in Vienna, and also was in Beijing and Chandu, again, advocating for oil and gas and other industries.  


I think you see that there's an expanding group of agencies that we're bringing in front of you, the witness this morning with Michael Fitzgerald, and today some new colleagues, Michael Molnar.  Welcome.  I look forward to continuing to work with you.  I'm always available.  Give me a call.  Give me an email and I'll work with Mike, and Nicole, and others to try to address the issues in between these meetings.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  Thank you very much for your brevity.


What I'd like to do is to have the Council adjourn downstairs.  Mike, what's the room number?


MR. MASSERMAN:  It's 3407.  We'll walk you guys down.


CHAIRMAN ANDERSON:  We'll go down to 3407 and we'll wrap up our meeting, and particularly talk about next steps and the calendar for next year and the meeting dates.  So I'd really ask all the Council members to hang in there for at least another few minutes.


Thank all of our guests.  We really appreciate you being here and we'll look forward to more interaction as we go forward.  Thank you.


(Whereupon, at 11:10 a.m. the meeting was adjourned.)
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